

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Peltzer, Roger; Röttger, Daniela

## Working Paper Cotton sector organisation models and their impact on farmer's productivity and income

Discussion Paper, No. 4/2013

**Provided in Cooperation with:** German Institute of Development and Sustainability (IDOS), Bonn

*Suggested Citation:* Peltzer, Roger; Röttger, Daniela (2013) : Cotton sector organisation models and their impact on farmer's productivity and income, Discussion Paper, No. 4/2013, ISBN 978-3-88985-627-2, Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE), Bonn

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/199390

#### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



## WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik



German Development Institute

**Discussion Paper** 

4/2013

# Cotton Sector Organisation Models and their Impact on Farmer's Productivity and Income

Roger Peltzer Daniela Röttger

# Cotton sector organisation models and their impact on farmer's productivity and income

Roger Peltzer

Daniela Röttger

Bonn 2013

Discussion Paper / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik ISSN 1860-0441

Die deutsche Nationalbibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über http://dnb.d-nb.de abrufbar.

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data is available in the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de.

ISBN 978-3-88985-627-2

**Roger Peltzer** is Director of the department Special Programmes of the German Investment and Development Bank (DEG). Under his responsibility DEG is implementing on behalf of the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation large programmes to increase the income of small holder cotton and coffee farmers in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). He has a 25 year experience of financing agro-industry businesses and small holder schemes in Africa, Eastern Europe and Turkey. He is also member of the Board of Appropriate Development for Africa Foundation (ADAF) in Cameroun, an Non-Governmental Organisation (NGO) promoting one of the largest cooperative village bank systems in SSA. He has published on various development policy related issues.

E-mail: pr@deginvest.de

**Daniela Röttger** is a Master student in international and development policy at the University Duisburg Essen. She is finalizing her thesis on the role of microfinance in providing finance for smallholder farmers. She is also working as a consultant for DEG-German Investment and Development Bank.

E-mail: daniela.roettger@deginvest.de

© Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik gGmbH Tulpenfeld 6, 53113 Bonn 營 +49 (0)228 94927-0 昌 +49 (0)228 94927-130 E-Mail: die@die-gdi.de www.die-gdi.de

#### Contents

#### Abbreviations

Summa	ary	1
1	Introduction	2
2	Conceptual and empirical approach	5
2.1	Organisational models of the African cotton sector	5
2.2	Contract farming and the competition-coordination trade-off	6
2.3	Analytical framework and empirical indicators	8
3	Cotton sector performance within the COMPACI countries	9
3.1	Quality	9
3.2	Access to input and investment loans	11
3.3	Cotton yields, farmers' share of the cotton world market price and revenue	13
3.4	Price volatility – a core problem not only for farmers	18
3.5	The cultivation of cotton versus food crops	20
3.6	Environmental and social standards in cotton farming	23
4	Conclusion: a comparison of organisational forms of the cotton sector	26
Bibliog	graphy	29
Figure	S	
Figure	1: System for input financing through village cooperative banks	13
Figure	2: Seed cotton productivity (kg/ha)	14
Figure	3: Farmers' share of world market price	15
Figure	4: Input cost (USD/ha)	16
Figure	5: Farmers' net revenue from cotton (USD/ha)	17
Figure	6: Per capita income and provision of assets	18
Tables		
Table 1	: Typology of the organisation of the African cotton sector	6
Table 2	2: Indicators for cotton sector performance used by Tschirley et al.	8
Table 3	Indicators used in this study for the examination of cotton sector performance	9

Table 4:	Cotton quality and sector organisation
Table 5:	Credit supply and sector organisation

10 11

### Abbreviations

ADAF	Appropriate Development for Africa Foundation
BCI	Better Cotton Initiative
CmiA	Cotton made in Africa
COMPACI	Competitive African Cotton Initiative
DEG	German Investment and Development Bank / Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH
ESA	East and Southern Africa
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FLO	Fairtrade Labelling Organization
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
MFI	Microfinance Institution
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
NORC	National Opinion Research Center
SSA	sub-Saharan Africa
WCA	West and Central Africa

#### Summary

Cotton is one of the most important cash crops in sub-Saharan Africa that is almost exclusively grown by smallholder farmers. There are approx. 1.7 million cotton farmers in sub-Saharan Africa who grow cotton in rotation with the cultivation of food crops. Most African cotton farmers and their family members still live below the poverty line of 1.50 USD per day even though the cotton sector is relatively well organised and features a developed infrastructure with agricultural advisory services, research, seed development and established institutions in many parts of Africa. Compared to other cotton producing regions in the world, the growing conditions in Africa also reveal a high level of biodiversity, the sustainable use of water (due to the practice of rainfed farming) and a comparatively modest use of pesticides. In this respect the African cotton sector offers good starting points for targeted policies for combatting poverty, securing food supply and for implementing environmentally-friendly farming methods.

The cotton sector in different countries of sub-Saharan Africa shows different organisational models, ranging from atomistic competition to monopolistic structures. The models differ in their type of service provision and purchase agreements offered to smallholder farmers. As a result there is an ongoing debate over which form of cotton sector organisation offers more benefits to the farmers. This paper will contribute to the discussion in comparing different cotton sector organisation models according to well published indicators, namely their capability to reduce cotton contamination, to provide inputs and to increase the yields and incomes of farmers. The paper will also expand on this ongoing debate by introducing new criteria for the evaluation of the efficiency of cotton sector organisation models, such as their capacity to stabilise purchase prices for farmers, their ability to combine cotton and food crop production and their capability to guarantee social and ecological sustainability to cotton textile buyers in the retail sector.

The paper shows that contract farming based organisation models for the cotton sector provide better results than structures based on atomistic competition with respect to most of the criteria. On the other hand, however, it confirms that each country is well advised not to look for a standard blueprint, but to design its cotton sector organisation system while taking historically developed structures, practices and expectation and behaviour patterns of stakeholders into account.

The empirical basis of this paper is comprised of many years of insight and experience gained through the Competitive African Cotton Initiative (COMPACI) programme. A rich panel data set from African COMPACI partners was analysed. The COMPACI programme endeavours to improve the income and living conditions of around 500,000 African cotton farmers in seven countries (Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia and Cameroon).

#### 1 Introduction

The development of the agricultural sector plays a key role in the fight against poverty and in securing the food supply in sub-Saharan Africa. Not only does agriculture account for 65 per cent of the continent's full time employment, for about 25–30 per cent of the gross domestic product (GDP) and over half of total export earnings, but growth originating from agriculture is also known to be twice as effective in reducing poverty as GDP growth originating outside of agriculture (IAASTD 2009a, 2; Yumkella et al. 2011, 17; World Bank 2008, 7). This is why the development of the agricultural sector plays a key role in most development strategies for sub-Saharan Africa (IAASTD 2009a; NEPAD 2009; World Bank 2008; AGRA 2009).

Smallholder farmers must be the backbone of this effort, as smallholder farms account for 80 per cent of the agricultural economy in sub-Saharan Africa (IAASTD 2009b, 6). Improving their productivity is therefore one of the key instruments in combating poverty. Higher productivity generates more income and reduces poverty for both farmers and non-farmers. The increased purchasing power promotes a diversification of the local economies by creating jobs in commerce, small business and handcrafts. This also broadens the economic basis of social networks for supporting needy members of large extended families (Wolz 2005, ii).

While there is a broad consensus in the discussion surrounding developmental policies that the strategies for fighting poverty and for securing the supply of food should first and foremost start with promoting the production of smallholder farmers, controversy sets in when the question arises of what form this support should take (Wolz 2005, 19; IAASTD 2009a, 2). The challenge of providing millions of smallholder farmers with advisory services, high quality seed and other agricultural inputs, as well as organising their access to markets, is immense.

One approach for tackling this challenge is the creation of a link between smallholder farmers and the market through contracts with agro-industrial buyers. This system, which is known as contract farming, is well established for certain products in several sub-Saharan African countries and is often the only opportunity for smallholder farmers to access advisory services and external inputs for agricultural production.<sup>1</sup> Contract farming, however, is often criticised. It is argued that this model is disadvantageous for the farmers, as it is mostly limited to cash crops destined for export and thus might negatively affect the ability of the farmers to produce enough food. According to these critics contract farming is contradictory to self-organisation among farmers, which in turn works

<sup>1 &</sup>quot;Contract farming describes pre-agreed supply agreements between farmers and buyers. Usually local farmers grow and deliver agricultural produce in the specified quantity and quality at an agreed date. In exchange the company provides upfront inputs, such as credit, seeds, fertilizer, pesticides and technical advice, all of which may be charged against the final purchase price, and agrees to buy the produce supplied, usually at a specified price" (Vermeulen / Cotula 2010, 4). There is a wide range of contract farming arrangements, varying from loose verbal terms to highly specified contracts and designations as to which seed, fertiliser, pesticides and techniques must be used and when (Vermeulen / Cotula 2010, 39).

against any strengthening of farmers' position. Furthermore, it prevents the farmers from being able to participate in any of the further processing steps in the value chain. NGO activists as well as liberal economist argue that farmers are likely not to receive a fair share of the world market price in contract farming arrangements (United Nations 2011; Brüntrup / Peltzer 2007, 42; Hoering 2007, 117).

Given this controversy it is appropriate to examine contract farming more closely. This paper does so by looking at the cotton (sub-) sector in sub-Saharan Africa, as in most African countries this sector relies on contract farming in one form or the other, cotton is of significant economic importance for the continent and reaches a significant proportion of the rural population living in poverty. Though there are no precise figures on the number of cotton farmers and the size of area they cultivate in sub-Saharan Africa, conclusions regarding the relevance of the cotton sector within the agricultural sector in sub-Saharan Africa can be drawn based on data from the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and on data gathered through the Competitive African Cotton Initiative (COMPACI).<sup>2</sup> According to FAOstat data cotton was planted on roughly 3.17 million ha in sub-Saharan Africa in 2009, which corresponds to app. 1.55 per cent of all agricultural land.<sup>3</sup> In the COMPACI countries Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia and Cameroon, the proportion of agricultural land used for growing cotton is significantly higher (3.86 per cent).<sup>4</sup> COMPACI data shows that the average cotton farmer has a total field size of six to seven hectares (ha), of which on average 1.9 ha are dedicated to growing cotton (NORC 2011, 8).

Several very rough calculations can be made from those figures. It is important to understand them as approximations that can vary greatly from country to country. Nevertheless, the following data indicates the importance of the cotton sector in sub-Saharan Africa: First, it can be assumed that there are app. 1.67 million cotton farmers in sub-Saharan Africa.<sup>5</sup> Secondly, these cotton farmers cultivate roughly 10.86 million ha with cotton and food crops, which corresponds to 5.31 per cent of the agricultural land in sub-Saharan Africa.<sup>6</sup> Thirdly, this proportion is even higher in COMPACI countries, where cotton farmers cultivate app. 4.7 million ha of agricultural land, which corresponds to 13.22 per cent of the agricultural land in the COMPACI countries.

<sup>2</sup> A description of the COMPACI programme can be found in the last paragraph of this introduction and in the COMPACI Flyer (DEG / GTZ s.a.).

<sup>3</sup> Here and in the following, agricultural land only refers to arable land (farmland) and areas with permanent crops. Permanent meadows and pastures are not included.

<sup>4</sup> The following figures were used for these calculations: cotton area in COMPACI countries was 1,375,252 ha and agricultural land area in COMPACI countries was 35,585,000 ha in 2009 (FAO 2012a and FAO 2012b).

<sup>5</sup> For this calculation the entire area cultivated with cotton (3.17 million ha) was divided by the average cotton field size (1.9 ha).

<sup>6</sup> For this calculation the number of cotton farmers (1.67) was multiplied with the average agricultural area of one cotton farmer (6.5 ha) to calculate the total cultivation area of cotton farmers. With 204,683,700 ha of agricultural land in sub-Saharan Africa, this corresponds to 5.31 per cent.

Taking the average of 6.2 family members per household in COMPACI countries, 10.4 million people in sub-Saharan Africa are estimated to depend on the cultivation of cotton to a significant degree in order to maintain their livelihood. 80 per cent of these cotton farmers and their family members had a per capita income of less than 1.5 USD per day when the COMPACI baseline study was conducted (NORC 2011, 8).

The cotton sector is one of the most organised and structured agricultural sub-sectors in sub-Saharan Africa. The type of structure and regulation of the cotton sector, however, varies from country to country. In general, a distinction can be made between three different models: (1) a model with national or sub-national concession areas (national or regional monopolies), in which a cotton company has the monopoly rights to promote and buy cotton in a specified geographical area; (2) a concentrated competition model in which one or two dominant firms act as market leaders in a competitive market among much smaller competitors; (3) a competitively structured system in which many ginners (20–30) compete vigorously for a market share without anyone of them establishing a dominant position. While concession area agreements still dominate in Western and Central African countries (WCA), which were formerly French colonies, more competitive systems are dominant in Anglophone Eastern and Southern Africa (ESA). The different organisational models also have an impact on the kind of contracts that are possible between firms and cotton farmers. Further explanations of the models and the different types of contract farming schemes are explained in Section 2.

For many years there has been intense discussion, especially in several studies financed by the World Bank and French development cooperation, regarding the advantages and disadvantages of the various organisational forms of the cotton sector and the resulting design of contract farming arrangements for the living conditions of smallholder cotton farmers and for the performance of the cotton sector as a whole.<sup>7</sup>

This paper will contribute to this discussion in supplying additional empirical evidence on the efficiency of the different cotton sector organisational models using some of the known indicators from Tschirley et al. (2010), such as quality, provision of credit, productivity (cotton yield/ha) and farmer incomes from cotton. In addition to these it introduces new criteria for the evaluation of the different organisational models, such as their ability to stabilize cotton purchase prices and thus income for farmers, to integrate the promotion of food crops in the cotton extension service model and to facilitate the implementation of sustainability standards that are being demanded more and more by international retailers and consumers of cotton textiles.

The empirical basis of this paper is comprised of many years of insight and experience gained through the COMPACI program. The COMPACI programme endeavours to

<sup>7</sup> The following two essays summarise the studies that compare various organisation forms in the cotton sector: Poulton / Tschirley / Plerhoples (2010) and Tschirley et al. (2010, 295–323).

improve the income and living conditions of around 500,000 African cotton farmers in seven countries (Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia and Cameroon).<sup>8</sup> This programme is financed in part by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF) and the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ). An independent evaluation of the COMPACI programme through the National Opinion Research Center (NORC) in Chicago began in early 2009. The implementation of this programme and the evaluation performed by NORC has produced a large volume of data and findings that can contribute to the discussion outlined above.<sup>9</sup>

#### 2 Conceptual and empirical approach

2.1 Organisational models of the African cotton sector

The following typology and explanation of organisation models of the African cotton sector is modelled after Tschirley et al. (2010, 299), who differentiate between five organisational forms. For the sake of simplicity, state and regional monopolies have been combined into one category and the hybrid system described by Tschirley et al. (2010, 299), under which Benin would fall, will not be discussed.<sup>10</sup> A differentiation will therefore be made between the following three models:

(1) The **national or sub-national (regional) monopoly:** In this model one company has the monopoly right to promote and buy cotton in specified geographical areas and farmers are therefore obliged to work with these state-run or private cotton companies. Thus, the cotton company "controls" all cotton production in a country or a concession area / region. National monopolies exist in Mali and Cameroon (state-owned cotton companies), Senegal (private cotton company) and Togo (state-owned cotton company with minority shares held by farmers' organisations), for example. In Mozambique and Burkina Faso, on the other hand, there are regional concessions areas, in which state-run or private cotton companies have regional monopolies in specific areas.

(2) The **concentrated competition model**: In this competitive, market-based system a few strong private cotton companies dominate the greater part of the market. They act as market leaders among much smaller competitors. Under this model cotton farmers may choose the cotton company with which they wish to enter a contract. This system exists in

<sup>8</sup> The above-named COMPACI programme currently includes 486,000 farmers in Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Malawi, Mozambique and Zambia. There is also a public private partnership project, which is carried out by the Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH (DEG) and Sodecoton Cameroon, linked to the programme. Sodecoton has contractual relationships with 160,000 farmers.

<sup>9</sup> The NORC data, however, only refers to the countries Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Malawi, Mozambique and Zambia. There is no NORC data available for Cameroon.

<sup>10</sup> Most recent information indicates that Benin will move "back" to a concession area model.

Zambia, Zimbabwe and, since recently, in Côte d'Ivoire, where the original concession area system has been phased out in favour of concentrated competition.<sup>11</sup>

(3) The **atomistic competition model**: In this competitively structured system a large number of cotton companies compete vigorously for a market share and for the smallholder farmers' cotton. None of them has established a dominant position. This system is prevalent in Tanzania and is being mandated by the government in Malawi.

Since this paper is based on the experience and data of the COMPACI countries, Table 1 classifies the COMPACI countries according to the above categorization.

Table 1:Typology of the organisation of the African cotton sector and the companies collaborating with COMPACI*			
National/ Regional Monopoly	<b>Concentrated Competition</b>	Atomistic Competition	
Cameroon (Sodecoton)	Côte d'Ivoire ( <i>Ivoire Coton</i> ) <sup>a</sup>	Malawi ( <i>GLCC</i> ) <sup>b</sup>	
Mozambique (Plexus Mozambique)	Zambia (Cargill, Dunavant)		
Burkina Faso (Faso Coton)			
* Benin is not included in the categoriz	ation, as it falls within a hybrid system.		
a = The cotton sector in Côte d'Ivoire competition in 2001. Therefore ma the analysis in Section 3.	was a monopolistic system for many year any characteristics of the monopoly syste	rs and only changed to concentrated orm are still present as can be seen in	
b = GLCC has a strong presence in the purchasing cotton.	Malawi market, but is confronted with a	tomistic competition when it comes to	

Source: own figure based on Tschirley et al. (2010, 299)

#### 2.2 Contract farming and the competition-coordination trade-off

The different organisational models have an impact on the design of the contractual relationship between cotton companies and cotton farmers. Whereas contract farming arrangements exist under the national or sub-national monopoly and within the concentrated competition model, there are no contractual relationships within the competitively structured system.

In general, contract farming arrangements within the cotton sector imply that the cotton companies operating the gins for delinting the cotton pre-finance the seed and, in varying degrees, the inputs for cotton production like fertiliser, pesticides and sprayers, for the farmers. In some cases, in which stable, long-term contractual relationships exist between the cotton company and the contract farmers, investment goods, such as tractors, oxen,

<sup>11</sup> The commission currently in charge of reviewing the cotton and the cashew sector on behalf of the government considers moving back to a system with clearly defined concession areas, however.

ploughs and other agricultural equipment, can also be pre-financed. The companies also provide agricultural advisory services and play a role in the maintenance of rural roads. In return for pre-financing services, the farmers pledge to deliver their cotton to the cotton company. The purchase price for the cotton can either be set before the seed is planted or during the marketing season. Upon delivery of the cotton, the cotton company deducts the fees for the pre-financing services from the amount owed to the farmer.

Under contractual models cotton companies provide agricultural advisory services through a relatively dense network of full-time extension workers and/or pilot farmers, who advise the farmers during the growing and harvest periods. In general, a ratio of one extension worker per 250–300 farmers can be considered as adequate. This is particularly true when pilot farmers with demonstration fields complement the services provided by the extension service from the cotton companies. With this number of extension workers available, the farmers are able to receive regular training in effective agricultural practices and harvesting techniques to improve the cotton quality and to adapt as new seeds, technologies and conditions emerge.

In the late 80's and early 90's the World Bank polemicised against the contract farming system with parastatal (monopoly) cotton companies developed since independence by the French government in WCA and pushed for privatisation through a number of structural adjustment programmes (Delpuche / Leblois 2011, 7). Their central concern was that the smallholder farmer does not receive a fair cotton purchase price because of the monopolistic system, in which the price is not determined through competition. They argued for a competitive organisation model with free pricing. The French side, as well as governments in WCA, argued that the decisive criterion for assessing the performance of an organisational model was not the price per kg, but rather the farmer's net profit per hectare. A monopolistic and/or concession system would allow farmers to pre-finance inputs of production and investment goods in order to increase their productivity, so that after deducting the pre-financing costs the farmers would be left with a higher net profit, even if per kg prices would be lower under this system in order to pay for the large administrative and transaction costs.

Meanwhile, the World Bank backed away from its liberalisation dogma and thus the fierce advocacy for a liberal organisation of the cotton value chain is no longer the focus of the debate. Still, there is an ongoing debate on the efficiency of the various organisational models in the cotton sector, which is at the same time a debate on the efficiency of contract farming in general. This discussion is headed by the research performed by Tschirley et al. (2010, 295 ff.) and Poulton et al. (2010), who evaluate the organisational forms of the cotton sector along various indicators. Within their studies the perception that there is a trade-off between coordination (generally more present in WCA countries) and competition (prevailing in ESA countries) is still present and is discussed under the term "competition-coordination trade-off." According to it the competitive market system is expected to deliver attractive cotton prices for the producer, but is rarely able to deliver inputs, credits or to achieve high lint quality, while the concentrated market system allows for the de-

livery of inputs, credits and achieves a high lint quality, but is expected to deliver lower cotton prices to producers than the competitive system over time (Tschirley / Poulton / Labaste 2009 in Poulton et al. 2010, 10 ff.).

#### 2.3 Analytical framework and empirical indicators

Since the goal of this paper is to assess the advantages and disadvantages of the various organisational forms of the cotton sector and the respective design of contract farming arrangements for the living conditions of smallholder cotton farmers, indicators that measure the influence of the cotton sector organisation at the farm level must be chosen. Tschirley et al. (2010, 300) chose the indicators displayed in Table 2 to measure the cotton sector's performance.

Table 2:Indicators for cotton sector performance used by Tschirley et al.			
Type of indicator	Measured by		
Quality and marketing	Estimated national average realized premium over Cotlook A index (US\$/lb lint), an index for market prices for African cotton		
Pricing	Mean per cent price paid to farmers at local market place		
Input provision	<ul> <li>a) Per cent of cotton farmers receiving input credit</li> <li>b) Adequacy / quality of input credit package, if provided</li> <li>c) Repayment rate</li> </ul>		
Extension	<ul><li>a) Cotton companies providing assistance: yes or no</li><li>b) Qualitative assessment</li></ul>		
Research	No. of varieties released and taken up, past 10 years		
Yield	Kg of seed cotton produced per ha		
Consumer welfare	Returns per day of family labour (US\$/day)		
Overall competitiveness	Ratio, total FOT cost to total FOT value		
Net impact	<ul><li>a) Total value-added per capita (including value of seed sales)</li><li>b) Net budgetary contribution per capita (taxes paid minus transfers received)</li></ul>		
Source: based on Tschirley et al. (2010, 300 ff.)			

For the purpose of this paper we dropped some of the indicators and introduced three new criteria for the discussion of the organisational forms of the cotton sector. Our list of indicators can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3:         Indicators used in this study for the examination of cotton sector performance			
Type of indicator	Measured by		
Quality	Level of contamination determined by expert opinion		
Access to credit	<ul><li>a) Provision of input credits</li><li>b) Provision of investment credits</li></ul>		
Yield	Kg of seed cotton produced per ha		
Pricing	Farmers share of world market price		
Income	Net revenue of farmers per ha cotton		
Price stability	Qualitative assessment		
Food production	Qualitative assessment		
Environmental and social standards	Qualitative assessment		
Source: own compilation			

The criteria were adapted due to the following facts and considerations: This paper is based on monitoring and evaluation reports presented by COMPACI partners between 2007 and 2012 and on NORC surveys, which only report on access to credit, yields, prices, income and, to some extent, quality aspects. Second, the new indicators, i.e. price stability, food production and environmental and social standards, play a major role in present discussions on the living conditions of the smallholder farmers and/or their competitiveness on the international market.

#### **3** Cotton sector performance within the COMPACI countries

#### 3.1 Quality

The quality of cotton is measured based on the characteristics of the cotton fibres and on the degree of contamination of the cotton with foreign substances, especially polypropylene. African cotton is known for some good characteristics in its cotton fibre based on a global comparison, but the degree of contamination of the cotton varies greatly throughout the continent (Tschirley et al. 2010, 303).

Tschirley et al. (2010, 304) argue that the quality of the cotton (here always referred to in the context of non-contamination) is best under the concentrated competition model. This is because two main conditions need to be in place for a sector to produce high quality lint: (1) Ginners need to be able to control their supply chain, which means in practice that they are able to provide clear incentives for farmers to deliver uncontaminated and well sorted cotton; (2) ginners must have the incentive to do this. According to Tschirley et al. (2010, 304 f.) those two conditions are best met in a concentrated sector, because the concentrated system allows for the control of supply chains without becoming inefficient, which tends to be the case with monopolistic systems. Nevertheless, Tschirley et al. (2010, 305) state that performance among monopolistic systems is highly variable, mostly depend-

ing on the level of political interference. Atomistic competition models tend to completely negate quality aspects. They support this argument in part by pointing to the quality premiums received by Zambian cotton over the Cotlook A Index (Tschirley et al. 2010, 303 f.).

Zambian cotton has in fact, for African standards, a relatively high degree of noncontamination, but it is questionable whether or not this is due to the organisational form of the sector. Insofar as the term quality refers to a low degree of polypropylene contamination, the fact that farmers in WCA – despite all training – generally use polypropylene fertiliser bags during the harvest is the reason for the systematically higher degree of polypropylene contamination in cotton from WCA compared to ESA. Since farmers in ESA, with the exception of Zimbabwe, do not use mineral fertiliser, they don't have these plastic bags available for "misuse" during the harvest. Additionally, Dunavant and Cargill Zambia, in particular, worked very hard to remove contamination. The cotton is fed into the gin on conveyors while women sit and manually remove foreign objects. In WCA, on the other hand, the cotton is vacuumed out of the delivery trucks and sent directly to the gin.

It is also not as clear as Tschirley et al. (2010, 303) claim that the spinning mills demand non-contaminated cotton. There is, in fact, a demand for low quality cotton (for example for jeans, tissues etc.). Often it is also cheaper for the spinning mills to remove contamination themselves instead of paying higher prices to ginners or better quality. For this reason, Dunavant is currently considering reducing its efforts to decontaminate, as the high costs are not completely compensated by the premiums that are paid for it.

These explanations and the assessment of the cotton quality of the COMPACI partners in terms of non-contamination seen in Figure 4 show that a causal relationship between sector organisation and cotton quality cannot be easily identified. Regardless of the organisational form, all parties must find an answer to the question of quality (non-contamination) that is appropriate for their specific markets and production conditions.

The introduction of polyethylene fertiliser bags in WCA would be a big step forward. This however was intensely discussed and then rejected for technical reasons years ago, primarily due to the low stability and poor tear resistance of polyethylene fertiliser bags.

Table 4: Cotton quality and sector organisation			
Sector type	Cotton company	Quality	
	SODECOTON (Cameroon)	+	
Monopoly	Plexus (Mozambique)	+	
	Faso Coton (Burkina Faso)	-	
Concentrated Competition	Ivoire Coton ( <i>Côte d'Ivoire</i> )	_	
	Dunavant; Cargill (Zambia)	++	
Atomistic Competition	GLCC (Malawi)	+	
-= Partly contamin. $+=$ good $++=$ very good			
Source: own assessments			

#### 3.2 Access to input and investment loans

There is, however, a close link between the organisational form of the sector and its ability to provide credits. The following link can be made in principle: the stronger the bond between the farmer and the cotton company and the greater the extent to which side selling<sup>12</sup> can be eliminated, the more comprehensive the services that the cotton company is willing to pre-finance for the smallholder farmers. The provision of credit is therefore generally better in monopolistic systems, which are traditionally prevalent in WCA, than in systems with concentrated competition or atomistic competition. The cotton companies that work in regional or national monopolies also experience – due to the system – very high repayment rates, provided the cotton is not smuggled into neighbouring countries.

Table 5, however, shows that there are a few country-specific exceptions, such as Ivoire Coton, which is able to provide very good input credits as well as investment loans under the system of concentrated competition, and Plexus Mozambique, which is rather poor in input credit provision even in a concession system. These two cases will be briefly discussed in the following.

Table 5: Credit supply and sector organisation			
Sector type	Cotton company	Input credits	Investment credits
	SODECOTON (Cameroon)	++	+
Monopoly	Plexus (Mozambique)	+	—
	Faso Coton (Burkina Faso)	++	+
Concentrated Competition	Ivoire Coton ( <i>Côte d'Ivoire</i> )	++	++
	Dunavant; Cargill (Zambia)	+	$\rightarrow$ +
Atomistic Competition	GLCC (Malawi)	_	_
$-= \text{No credits} += \text{good} ++= \text{very good} \rightarrow = D$		pment	
Source: own assessments			

Ivoire Coton initially worked under a concession arrangement (monopoly) for quite some time and is still able to maintain strong relationships with approx. 90 per cent of the smallholder farmers of its former concession area under the current system of concentrated competition. They are therefore willing to provide 75 per cent of their farmers with oxen, insurance for the oxen and veterinary services (Diomande 2010, 3). This shows that long-term loans can be provided in systems with concentrated competition, provided there is a long-standing and intimate relationship between the cotton companies and the smallholder farmers.

Plexus Mozambique offers only very limited pre-finance services even though it operates in a concession region and despite the general tendency of monopolistic systems to better

<sup>12</sup> Side selling is the act of not selling all or part of the cotton to the cotton company that pre-financed the harvest and instead selling to another buyer or cotton company.

provide farmers with input and investment loans. This shows that the organisational form of the sector alone does not guarantee a good performance on the part of the cotton company, even if expected in theory.<sup>13</sup> The major reason is that systematic efforts to improve the performance of smallholder cotton farmer only recently began in Mozambique.

Apart from these exceptions, our data confirm that contract farming systems with strong commitments between the parties create a basis for the systematic pre-financing of farmers. Input supply, quality control and extension services are the first to suffer when the number of competing cotton companies rises in a certain country (Tschirley et al. 2010, 307 ff.).

The cotton companies are probably the largest rural and agricultural microfinancers in their respective countries with input and investment financing combined. They have three advantages over traditional microfinance institutions (MFIs): (1) Transaction costs are low, as credit is awarded through pre-existing advisory and purchasing structures; (2) the credit is secured through the future delivery of cotton, provided there is no substantial side selling; (3) interest rates for farmers are moderate, as the cotton companies are generally able to refinance through local banks at favourable rates. An MFI in Côte d'Ivoire, for example, which only accepts large scale farmers as customers, has to calculate an interest rate of 20-25 per cent to cover their costs, while the cotton company Ivoire Coton is able to cover its entire credit costs at 11 per cent interest.<sup>14</sup>

There are, however, disadvantages in only providing credit to farmers through the cotton companies. These loans are generally tied to cotton production and cannot be used to cover the farmers' other needs. These loans also increase the farmers' dependency on the cotton companies – at least for one season. For this reason, the COMPACI programme is working with ADAF, a non-government organisation in Cameroon, to test the introduction of cooperative banks for cotton farmers in northern Cameroon and in the growing areas around Chipata in Zambia. These banks will be refinanced exclusively through the farmers' savings. In order to secure the input and harvest pre-financing loans, the cotton company pledges to transfer the proceeds from the cotton purchased from the farmer directly to the farmer's account at the cooperative bank so that the bank can directly deduct the repayment of the loan (see Figure 1).

A low-cost operating concept, low refinancing costs (savings of the farmers) and close cooperation with the cotton company, at least during the development phase, are factors that can make this concept successful. Close ties to well-run local African commercial banks, which provide support services and monitoring, can help avoid governance and management problems in such village cooperative banks.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>13</sup> Significant improvement in the support and provision of inputs to farmers has been seen since Plexus Mozambique joined COMPACI at the start of 2010.

<sup>14</sup> The noted interest rates are based on surveys by Roger Peltzer of MFI's in December 2011 in Boundiali in northern Côte d'Ivoire.

<sup>15</sup> Compare Mees / Bomda (2006).



#### 3.3 Cotton yields, farmers' share of the cotton world market price and revenue

Besides natural factors, high cotton yields are mainly a result of good pre-harvest service provision (input credit provision, especially fertiliser use and extension services), which are generally better provided by regulated markets, as are historically prevalent in WCA (see Section 3.2). As can be seen in Figure 2, there are definitely higher yields (kg/ha) in WCA. Nevertheless, two questions remain open: First, if and to what extent farmers in regulated markets receive a lower share of the world market price of cotton, and second, whether or not the higher yields can compensate the higher input cost. This can be analysed when comparing the net revenue of farmers.

To add to this discussion, the authors compiled the following information based on information provided by COMPACI partners over a period of five years: yields in kg per ha, farmer's share of world market price and farmers' net income in USD per ha.<sup>16</sup> In the following discussion countries are grouped into WCA (Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire) and ESA countries (Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia), where the hybrid sector of Benin is included under WCA, as it also provides extension services and input credits to the cotton farmers.<sup>17</sup> This grouping does not completely fit into the organisational model of Tschirley. Historically, however, cotton sectors in WCA countries have been more regu lated and thus been able to provide mineral fertilisers to the farmers, which is (except in Zimbabwe) not the case in ESA countries.

<sup>16</sup> Yield and, consequently, income data per ha from Malawi are, however, to be regarded with caution. Malawi's yield statistics are quite unreliable estimates, as cotton companies – due to the lack of contract relations with the farmers – cannot relate the cotton purchased to the seeds that were handed out to the farmers and thus to the area planted.

<sup>17</sup> Cameroon is not included in the following elaborations, as it is only connected with the COMPACI programme as a public private partnership project and therefore not all of the relevant data is available.



#### Cotton Yields

With regards to the differences in mean cotton yields per ha, the COMPACI cotton farmers confirm what is found in literature, namely that the mean yields in WCA are significantly higher than in ESA. This is due to the fact that unlike in ESA, fertiliser (primarily mineral fertiliser, but increasingly organic fertiliser, as well) is used for growing cotton in WCA.

It is interesting to state that according to Tschirley et al. (2010, 312) this difference in yields does not mean that all farmers in ESA have low cotton yields. Their research found that the better off farmers in ESA (those with access to inputs, ownership of assets, especially ploughing equipment and oxen) produce as much as their counterparts in WCA. "WCA's advantage lies in the fact that it has through sustained effort over many years in research, input provision, and extension (including promoting ownership of animal traction equipment), moved a much higher share of farmers into the top groups" (Tschirley et al. 2010, 312). Consequently assisting more farmers in increasing their asset base as well as enhancing their productivity is important for the competitiveness of a sector as well as for poverty reduction.

#### Farmers' share of world market prices for cotton

When looking at the farmers' share of world market prices for cotton, a much more complex picture arises. Figure 3 shows the share of the cotton world market price received by farmers in the respective COMPACI countries over the past five years. As one can see farmers in WCA with monopolized pricing systems do not systematically receive a smaller share of the world market price than farmers in ESA, where, with the exception of Mozambique, pricing depends more strongly on competition. This allows the concept of competition-coordination trade-off put forth by Poulton et al. (2010, 13) to be questioned.



It should, however, be noted that the cotton companies' practice of forward selling coupled with the announcement of a cotton purchase price prior to planting in WCA can go both ways for the farmers. When prices fall it cushions the downswing. When prices increase significantly, however, the prices paid to the farmers are well under the world market prices. Both cases can be found in Figure 8: In season 2010/11 the cotton world market price increased significantly from the time of the forward sale in June 2010 to the harvest in WCA in December/January 2011. Therefore farmers in WCA received a relatively low share of the world market price in season 2010/11. However, the opposite effect can be seen for the 2011/12 season, as the world market price greatly decreased after the announcement of the purchase price and therefore cotton farmers in WCA received a higher share of world market price than their counterparts in ESA in 2011/12.

In ESA on the other hand, prices are set in closer chronological proximity to the world market prices, which can lead to higher shares of world market price when it is favourable, but also makes planning for farmers more complicated. This is an important factor to consider in evaluating farmers' share in world market prices over a longer period of time.

#### Net revenue from cotton

Even more than individual components of profitability, the net revenue derived from cotton is important for the farmer. The net revenue a farmer receives from cultivating cotton is a function of the productivity (kg/ha), the cotton price and the price he/she has to pay for agricultural inputs (seeds, fertiliser, chemicals). Even though labour is also an important cost factor, it is not taken into account in the following calculations for Figures 9 and 10, as it is hard to examine and reliable figures are not available for the respective COMPACI countries.

Figure 4 shows the huge difference farmers pay for inputs in WCA compared to ESA. This is mainly due to the fact that expensive mineral fertilisers are not used in ESA (except in Zimbabwe, which is not a COMPACI country).

Comparing input use with the cotton productivity in Figure 2, it is clear that the inputs in WCA also produce higher cotton yields. Nevertheless, those higher yields do not always



lead to higher net incomes, as can be seen in Figure 5, which combines gross prices paid to the farmer with the deducted input cost. Here we see a rather mixed picture that shows that higher input cost are not always compensated by higher yields.



However, another conclusion can be drawn: The use of mineral fertiliser in WCA only makes sense – at least when simply looking at cotton – when farmers receive a high price for cotton and/or are able to achieve high yields because of very good agricultural practices. The higher costs associated with using mineral fertiliser will not be compensated by the additional yield when low cotton prices occur combined with a low application of good agricultural practices.<sup>18</sup>

When interpreting the figures, it should, however, also be noted that the cotton companies use standard values for fertiliser costs/ha in their revenue calculations. But many farmers use a portion of the fertiliser for growing other crops that cover 72% of their farm area on average (see Section 1), especially when the prices are relatively low, which in turn leads to lower cotton yields. Thus, looking at the farmers' net revenue based solely on the cultivation of cotton is insufficient, as their total farm production has to be taken into account. For this reason the total income of the cotton farmer's household is a much more meaningful figure. Statistics on the per capita income of the cotton farmers' households were also gathered by COMPACI. The results can be seen in Figure 6.

<sup>18</sup> The same applies for the use of transgenic seed. As an additional consequence, it is advantageous for cotton companies and farmers if only those farmers with high yield potential use mineral fertiliser. This strategy is pursued by DZL, as well as Cargill in Zambia, both of which began providing mineral fertiliser on credit only for select farmers. In selecting candidates they focused on farmers with the highest yield potential.



The per capita income of the cotton farmers (as well as the provision of assets like motorcycles, bicycles and mobile telephones) is significantly higher in WCA than in ESA. It can be reasonably assumed that the higher living standard of cotton farmers in WCA is the result of the efficiency of the whole farming system in WCA, which is the result of a well designed cotton sector policy decades ago.

However, there are clear lessons for the optimisation of yields and input costs. Input supply should be concentrated on farmers showing high adoption rates of good agricultural practices. Cotton companies should furthermore design careful policies to also address the farmers' needs for fertilisers for their food crop production (see Section 3.5 below). Furthermore, the utilization of organic manure should be promoted.

#### 3.4 Price volatility – a core problem not only for farmers

The high fluctuations of the cotton price due to the heavily fluctuating world market prices and exchange rates for local currencies vs. the dollar<sup>19</sup> are seen as a major problem by the farmers. In contract farming arrangements in WCA this fluctuating price is balanced by setting the purchase price for cotton before the seed is planted (pre-planting price). This

<sup>19</sup> According to a study by Ecobank, the cotton price fluctuations from 2007 to 2010 by far showed the greatest volatility of all African soft commodities (see Aithnard 2011, 5 ff.).

allows farmers to calculate how much cotton they want to plant, what inputs they want to use and how high their potential income might be at the end of the season. Such a preplanting price can lead to purchase prices below world market prices at the time of harvest. In ESA, the purchase price is not announced until the start of the harvest and then often fluctuates during the two to three-month long buying season, especially in a system with atomistic competition. Even though a price competition initially seems favourable for the farmers as it allows for higher prices, it can lead to severe problems, as the following example illustrates: In the summer of 2010 the price of cotton doubled during the buying season, because the cotton companies in Zambia and Malawi entered a bidding war in light of a scarce harvest and rising world market prices. The farmers who sold their harvest early, which is desirable with regards to quality criteria, were therefore disadvantaged. This unequal treatment led to much discontent, something that became very clear in interviews with the farmers (Neubert / NORC 2010, 11 ff.; Peltzer / Neubert 2011, 473). More equality, even at the cost of lower prices, could be much more valuable for the social peace in the cotton regions. In a system of concentrated competition it is more likely that, pushed by the market leaders, cotton companies might agree on a more stable purchase price policy during the buying season, as has been the practice in Zambia since 2011.

The strongly fluctuating world market prices not only create problems for the farmers, but also for the cotton companies and traders, especially in WCA, where the purchase prices are set prior to planting. Here, cotton companies need to forward sell at least part of the harvest six to 14 months in order to secure the announced price. Consequently, the cotton companies face significant production risks, as the forward sale occurs at a time when the actual production cannot be predicted. Another risk is that a counterparty – for example a spinning mill in China – will not fulfil the buying contract, whether under a pretext or not, when cotton prices decline sharply in the meantime. This also can result in a situation like the one seen in January 2011 in WCA. While the cotton companies in Benin and Cameroon secured their sales prices six months before the harvest, the spinning mills in neighbouring Nigeria did not buy ahead. Since the cotton price rose sharply once again between the time of the forward sale (June/July 2010) and harvest time in January 2011, the spinning mills and gins in Nigeria were able – and had no choice but – to offer significantly higher prices for the cotton than the cotton companies in Benin and Cameroon were able to pay their farmers. Many farmers in these two countries broke their contracts and sold their cotton in Nigeria instead. The cotton companies in Benin and Cameroon were disadvantaged and were only able to fulfil their forward delivery contracts at a great effort and, in part, with substantial losses.

However, the combination of pre-planting prices and cotton purchase price formulas, which refer to an average one-year world markets price, forces cotton companies in WCA to carefully balance forward sales over 12 months and longer. If this is properly done, market price fluctuations can be partially eliminated. Most cotton companies in ESA on the other hand relate their cotton purchase prices to the world market price at harvest time. This is a major reason why cotton companies in WCA are able to maintain a rather high

purchase price for the ongoing 2012/13 harvest, while cotton purchase prices in ESA (Zambia/Malawi) were cut by 50 per cent in 2012.

These elaborations show that the business of buying and selling cotton and securing the price of cotton are linked to significant commercial risks. The advice offered by liberal economists to create instruments that allow farmers to forward sell more easily is problematic, as it exposes farmers to the above-named economic risks, which are now largely borne by the cotton companies and cotton traders. It rarely makes sense for African smallholder farmers to assume the significant hedging risks on the global commodity markets.

An open question is whether there are solutions to cushion price fluctuations. A refined model was established in Burkina Faso - currently the largest cotton producer in sub-Saharan Africa – with the help of the World Bank and the French development cooperation. In this model, the pre-announced purchase price for cotton is based on the average world market price over the last three years and on forecasted prices. If the market prices are higher than the announced price determined on this basis, a so-called Fonds de Lissage is built; if the prices are below the reference price, this fund pays out a price support (AfdL 2008). The base capital of the Fonds de Lissage was funded by donors. Its management is assured in a very transparent way by a commercial bank, which should exclude mismanagement and corruption, which negatively affected former price stabilisation funds in many WCA countries. A final evaluation of the functionality and effect of the fund will not be possible until several cycles have been completed. The fund was established in 2007 after a previously existing equalisation fund became insolvent having faced a prolonged period of low prices for cotton. From 2008–2010, with sharply rising world market prices, the equalisation mechanism in Burkina Faso initially prevented farmers from benefitting greatly from the increasing world market price, which gave farmers less incentive to grow more cotton during that time. In the 2012/13 season farmers will, however, benefit from the fund payments to stabilise a cotton purchase price higher than the world market price.

A simpler option, which was chosen by several WCA governments, was to directly subsidise the purchase price for cotton or fertiliser prices during phases with low world market cotton prices with budget funds. These were refinanced through donor funds.

Another way to assist farmers to cope with price fluctuation risks is to train them in basic commercial practices – if possible integrated with functional literacy programmes – so that they are capable of optimising their overall operations, which generally entail an average of four to five crops, vegetable farming and small scale trading and tradesmen activities. From a commercial perspective it could then make sense to reduce cotton planting during periods in which low prices are anticipated. However, since cotton is much more resistant to drought than corn, it is always sensible for farmers to grow at least a minimal amount of cotton as part of an adequate insurance strategy for securing their income against weather related risks.

#### 3.5 The cultivation of cotton versus food crops

There is a vast discussion on the advantages and disadvantages of cash crop production vs. the production of food crops in literature. In general, opponents of cash crop production are concerned that cash crops compete with food crops for scarce land and that with increasing cash crop production farmers produce less food crops, which can lead to a rise of prices in local food markets (Jayne et al. 2004, 210; Kiriti / Tisdell 2003, 442). However, proponents of cash crops state that specific cash crop production and that, even without specific arrangements, food crop production benefits from cash crops through crop rotation and residual fertiliser of the cash crops in the soil (Brüntrup 1997; Govereh et al. 1999, 31; Govereh / Jayne 2003, 41; Demont / Stessens 2009, 260 ff.). Based on this discussion and the fact that most smallholder cotton farmers also produce food for their own consumption, it is important to examine whether cotton production favours food crop production and how.

In COMPACI countries cotton is generally grown under the practice of rainfed agriculture and in rotation with other crops. Therefore, food crops can benefit from residual fertilisers in all organisational models, but especially in countries where contract farming models that provide fertiliser for cotton exist, e.g. WCA countries. In fact, in many WCA countries cotton is the only agricultural value chain that can provide millions of farmers not only with fertiliser, but also with other inputs for agricultural production, as well as with investment goods like oxen and agricultural equipment. This also benefits the farmers' other crops, as fertiliser, pesticides, draught animals and equipment are also used for growing other crops. This is not possible in more competitive organisational models, where contract farming arrangements that pre-finance inputs cannot be maintained.

Due to this interdependency of cotton and food crop production in WCA, phases with low prices for cotton not only lead to a reduced production of cotton, but also to reduced food crop production in the cotton farming regions of WCA (Poulton et al. 2010, 6; Bellocq / Silve 2007, 5 f.). In this respect, it can be said that promoting cotton production also directly increases the security of the food supply in those countries.

When taking a closer look at the management of fertiliser loans, however, which are intended for the cultivation of cotton but also used for other crops, many problems can be observed. The fact that many farmers have given grossly exaggerated estimations of the surface area to be used for cotton cultivation during phases with low cotton prices in order to receive fertiliser and chemicals for other crops has proven to be very problematic. As a result, farmers who grow a lot of food crops and only little cotton during these phases were unable to pay back the input loans with cotton and accumulated considerable outstanding debts. The situation was further complicated through the practice of joint liability in the cooperative system, in which honest farmers were required to pay for the

"dishonest" debtors. As a result the accumulation of old debts took away all incentive for farmers to grow cotton, as they feared that a large portion of their earnings would be withheld for the payment of these debts. These mechanisms ultimately contributed to fuelling the crisis in the cotton sector and to an equal further reduction of both cotton and food crop production.

Based on this experience, three models for promoting the cultivation of both cotton and food crops without putting the farmers at risk of over indebtedness are being tested or already in place in some countries of WCA. The central idea for the cotton companies is to secure the loyalty of the farmers with a minimal level of cotton production even during phases of low cotton prices. Additionally, the practice of crop rotation has to be encouraged from an agronomical point of view, as it contributes to the preservation of soil fertility and to combat parasites.

(1) The Ivorian cotton company Ivoire Coton records all 40,000 contract farmers working with them in a detailed database that focuses on all land farmed by theses farmers for any crop. Ivoire Coton is able to use their knowledge of the yields and prices to gain relatively precise insight into their farmers' earnings and the cash costs, which result almost entirely from the inputs provided by Ivoire Coton. This allows Ivoire Coton to determine the debt capacity for each farmer and to adjust the delivered inputs (including amounts beyond that needed for cotton). In this respect Ivoire Coton is looking at the farmer's overall operations and not just the production of cotton. The farmers profit from the affordable prices and terms of payment that Ivoire Coton did away with the policy of joint liability among farmers with the introduction of this system. Farmers who do not pay back their loans do not receive future loans. Debts are restructured in cases of weather-induced failed harvests.

(2) Sodecoton in Cameroon has a slightly different approach. They also provide inputs to farmers, but the fertilisers for cotton are charged differently than those for food crops (maize, sorghum). While the fertilisers for cotton are delivered without a down payment and are paid for through the delivery of cotton, the farmers must make a down payment of 30 per cent in cash for the fertilisers that will be used for food crops. Theoretically, the input credits for food crops will also be refunded by the revenues of those food crops or other revenue rather than coming from cotton in order to ease the burden on cotton, but this often does not work in practice. Therefore the amount of inputs given for food crops depends on the area under cotton cultivation and the precedent campaign's cotton yield per hectare. If the precedent campaign's productivity (kg/ha) of a specific farmer was under a defined threshold, no inputs for food crops will be given. In addition, for one hectare of cotton, a farmer can only obtain inputs for up to one hectare of sorghum or for 0.25 - 0.5 hectares of maize. The granted credits are group credits handed out to the cooperatives – if one farmer cannot pay back his credit the others will do so in his place. In contrast to Ivoire Coton, Sodecoton does not look into the farmers' debt ratio

under this system. However, Sodecton is also currently looking into changing from group to individual credits and taking the individual farmer's debt ratio into account.

(3) Another new development is seen in the parallel promotion of cotton and soy cultivation by some cotton companies (Sodecoton in Cameroon and, to a limited extent, DZL and Cargill in Zambia). This is a particularly meaningful practice for crop rotation, as soy returns the nitrogen to the soil that the cotton consumes. From an economic standpoint, this is particularly interesting for the cotton companies that also operate seed cotton crushing oil mills. They are then able to supply these mills with both cottonseed and soy. Under this model, soy, like cotton, is planted and harvested under contract farming. Since cooking oil is central to securing the food supply and the remaining oilcake a valuable animal feed, this is also an example of how the cultivation of cotton and food crops can be sensibly intertwined (Clavier 2010).

In general it can be said that a debate of "cash crops versus food crops" does not reflect a real alternative and does not really help in the search for solutions for smallholder African farmers. It is much more important to discuss ways of sensibly linking the promotion of cash crops for export with the cultivation of food crops for local markets and subsistence production. This also applies to other major African cash crops, namely palm oil, coffee and cocoa, all of which are primarily cultivated by smallholder farmers who always combine the production of cash crops with the production of food crops. The solutions that must be developed for combining cash crop and food crop promotion will, however, be sector-specific and vary as contract farming arrangements are less prevalent in the coffee and cacao sector.

#### 3.6 Environmental and social standards in cotton farming

While the cultivation of coffee and the working conditions in the textile (sewing) companies have long been a topic in the public debates that have led to environmental and social standards, public awareness for the development of standards for cotton farming is a more recent phenomenon. Fair Trade cotton from Africa has been available since 2007, the Cotton made in Africa (CmiA) and Better Cotton Initiative (BCI) standards were both founded in 2005.<sup>20</sup> The production of organic cotton is the only standard with a significantly longer history. Although the world market share of all four of the above named standards is still small and well under 2 per cent, many major retailers have issued declarations of intent to completely switch to textiles that have been produced with sustainable cotton in the next five to eight years (Engel 2011, 12). Therefore, it is important to assess which form of cotton sector organisation is best prepared to implement environmental and social standards.

<sup>20</sup> More information on Fair Trade cotton can be found at Fairtrade Foundation (2012), on BCI at BCI (2012) and on CmiA at CmiA (2012a).

While BCI, Fairtrade Labelling Organization (FLO) and bio cotton have been of little importance in Africa thus far,<sup>21</sup> CmiA was able to boast more than 483,180 verified farmers with a production of more than 176,400 tons of lint cotton in the 2011/12 cultivation period (AbTF 2012a).<sup>22</sup>

Those seeking to establish environmental and social standards for African cotton used to produce textiles for the mass market face the following challenges:

- The standard must be practical and build on the reality of the production conditions of hundreds of thousands of smallholder farmers and help to gradually improve these conditions.
- The standard must be credible and be able to withstand external scrutiny.
- The costs of verifying the standard must be reasonable in relation to the farmers' income. If an African farmer has an average net income of 232 EUR<sup>23</sup> per ha of cotton (see Figure 10), the verification costs per farmer cannot amount to 20-30 EUR.
- The development of standards cannot be an end in and of itself, but rather must be integrated in a process that allows for the living conditions of the cotton farmers to gradually improve.

The example of CmiA shows that contract farming arrangements, which are only possible in a concession or concentrated competition model, are most suitable for meeting these challenges. Accreditation to CmiA starts with a few key exclusion criteria (such as the worst forms of child labour or farming in nature reserves). A traffic light criteria system focusing on gradually improving the social and environmental criteria is an additional integral part of CmiA. Starting in 2013 CmiA will also allow surpluses from the licensing fee revenue to be invested in the cotton farming regions for the twofold purpose of improving the environmental effects of cotton production and to improve the living conditions of the farmers.<sup>24</sup> To ensure the efficiency of the verification system, the cotton companies, as contract partners, bear most of the responsibility for ensuring

<sup>21</sup> BCI cotton was grown by app. 4,000 farmers in Mali in the 2010/2011 growing season (see Proforest Initiative 2011, 38). According to FLO-CERT, FLO cotton is grown in Burkina Faso, Mali, Senegal and Cameroon (see FLO-CERT 2011). According to the knowledge of the authors, Fair Trade cotton is currently only purchased from a few thousand farmers in Senegal. In the 2009/10 growing season 14,481 tons of bio cotton were grown by 31,069 farmers in the countries of Benin, Burkina Faso, Mali, Senegal, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia (see Truscott et al. 2010, 16 f.).

<sup>22</sup> However, only approx. 5 per cent of this verified cotton is sold under the CmiA label at present (see Peltzer / Neubert 2011, 472). As CmiA cotton since is allowed to also be marketed under BCI May 2012, it profits from a strongly increasing demand for BCI cotton, which will most probably absorb 50 per cent of all verified CmiA cotton in the upcoming 2–3 years.

<sup>23</sup> Here and in the following, net income refers to cotton income per ha in USD minus input costs (for seed, fertiliser, pesticides). Labour costs and any other costs are not included in the calculations. This figure refers to the 2010/2011 cultivation period.

<sup>24</sup> A detailed portrayal of the CmiA criteria matrix can be found at: Aid by Trade Foundation (2012b) and at CmiA (2012b).

that the exclusion criteria are adhered to and that the performance criteria are fulfilled step-by-step. Under this system the cotton companies must clearly document the efforts made to improve the fulfilment of the criteria and prove that appropriate management plans are in place. On this basis the independent verifiers are generally able to determine if and to what degree the cotton company's claims are true based on interviews with a limited number of farmers.

One advantage in this approach of using cotton companies operating under contract farming is that it clearly defines actors of responsibility (change agents). During the selection process, cotton companies being considered as possible new partners for CmiA are assessed based on the degree to which they are willing and able to successfully manage the necessary change processes in cooperating with tens of thousands of smallholder farmers. If the verification process shows that certain criteria are not being met, the cotton companies must either improve in those areas or risk losing their CmiA verification.

Furthermore, relying on cotton companies with well established systems of contract farming allows for the cost-effective and widespread introduction of "new production" methods, which help improve the performance level under the CmiA criteria matrix. These methods might include the application of pesticides according to damage threshold principle (Integrated Pest Management [IPM]); the creation and use of compost pits; ground and water conservation techniques; the use of stonewalls to protect against erosion; the introduction of minimal tillage; switching from backpack sprayers (high water consumption) to Ulva sprayers (low water consumption) and the planting of nitrogen fixing cultures. The well-run cotton companies and their extension services are able to quickly and appropriately react to the problems that inevitably occur when "innovations" are introduced. For example, the introduction of minimal tillage in Zambia has been accompanied by a significant increase in weed growth. This technique will only find widespread acceptance among farmers if they are also provided with the herbicides needed to combat weed growth on a credit basis. Private cotton companies with a sufficient credit rating are able to react to such needs by the following season.

Unlike CmiA, FLO and BCI have thus far worked almost exclusively with farmers' organisations and local NGOs as partners in implementing their standards. As both the BCI and FLO farmers are contractually bound to the cotton companies, it is not uncommon that situations arise in which it is unclear who, i.e. the farmers organisation on field level, the implementing NGO or the cotton company, bears the responsibility for removing shortcomings or for the continuous improvement process every standard pursues. For this reason, Fair Trade and BCI are rethinking their approach so that the cotton companies in Africa will play a significantly greater role in implementing their respective standards criteria in the future.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>25</sup> Discussions between the author Roger Peltzer with officials from BCI and FLO at the COMPACI and CmiA Stakeholder Conference in Livingstone / Zambia from 12–14 October 2011.

#### 4 Conclusion: a comparison of organisational forms of the cotton sector

This paper showed that the cotton sector is an important part of agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa that offers good starting points for targeted policies for combating poverty, securing the food supply and for implementing environmentally-friendly farming methods. Different organisation models exist that offer different advantages and disadvantages, as was shown throughout Section 3.

Comparing the different models and their outcomes shows that there is no ideal system for organising the cotton sector that is systematically more suitable to meet all needs than an alternative model (Delpuche / Leblois 2011, 13 f.; Poulton et al. 2010, 7). However, models which allow for contract farming do meet most of the criteria that indicate a high performance.

The monopoly/concession model is inherently more prone to mismanagement and corruption, even when counterbalanced by strong farmers' associations. However, this model has shown some strength regarding the provision of agricultural inputs and price stability. Companies like Sodecoton in Cameroun and Sodefitex in Senegal are also the only one's which significantly invested in the maintenance of the seed quality over the last years. Contract farming arrangements that are organised under a monopolistic system in WCA also show that there are promising experiences in a productive connection between cash crops and food production and the introduction of environmental and social standards.

Countries that choose to use a concession model should, however, define clear performance indicators that must be met in order for licenses to be renewed.<sup>26</sup> This requires first and foremost that private and parastatal companies report publicly and transparently on their performance (number of contracted farmers, ha yields, gross profit/ha, production figures), something that has not often been the case.<sup>27</sup>

The concentrated competition model as practiced in Côte d'Ivoire and Zambia is becoming more important in sub-Saharan Africa. The better the state's definition of the rules in a system with co-regulation with the private sector and the better the state monitors adherence to the regulations or sanctions non-compliance, the sooner that system will be able to show its full strengths. For example, only gins that provide a minimal amount (to be defined) of advisory services and provide input pre-financing should be awarded a new license or the renewal of an existing license. Compliance with the terms of contract must be guaranteed and side selling prevented. The farmers would only be allowed to change partners, meaning cotton companies, after the season or after they have paid back investment

<sup>26</sup> Situations rarely arise in which decisions can be made on issuing licenses to newcomers. When awarding licenses for set time periods, it would be logical to only lease the cotton gins "going along with the license" for set periods (such as five years). This allows more flexibility in issuing new licenses based on poor performance.

<sup>27</sup> For example, the information policy of Sofitex (parastatal) in Burkina Faso, which is the largest cotton producer in sub-Saharan Africa along with the CMDT in Mali, has been not always very transparent in recent years.

loans, which may last for a period of several years. The contracts can be monitored with a uniform data file, in which all cotton companies enter their contracts with the farmers, which would also help prevent "double contracts" and "side-selling". Such a data base has been installed by all ginners in Zambia in 2011 and it already exists in Côte d'Ivoire. The improved cooperation between the parties in the cotton sector in Zambia is already leading companies like Dunavant and Cargill to slowly explore the expensive pre-financing of mineral fertiliser and the granting of investment loans to farmers. This should lead to a significant increase in the average harvest yields of Zambian cotton production once these developments can be consolidated. Such a partly private and partly state regulated system will be then also able to implement a productive cooperation between cash and food crops, as well as environmental and social standards.

The atomistic competition model shows massive deficits. This is due to the fact that it does not offer any opportunity for the farmers' productivity to be systematically increased through the provision of inputs or advisory services. Due to the very high pre-financing costs for genetically modified seed, the free competition model is also not suitable for introducing transgenic cotton. Sustainability standards like CmiA, BCI and Fair Trade are also very difficult to implement in a system with atomistic competition, as these standards require traceability and the implementation of their criteria by tens of thousands of farmers. This can only be done through cooperation with management partners who systematically and contractually register and support these masses of farmers.

Under the model with atomistic competition, the introduction of a tax (levy) on all cotton exports could be a feasible solution to dealing with part of the deficits. This tax could be used to give the inputs "free of charge" to the farmers. Such a model exists in Uganda. Such a tax was introduced in Malawi in the 2011/12 season. The disadvantages of a tax are that the farmers lose their incentive to use external production inputs efficiently, which they perceive as being offered for free. Since inputs are financed "invisibly" through the sector, the smallholder farmer has no way of understanding how much it costs to grow cotton (compared to growing other products) or how much profit he/she makes with cotton. This system also implies that inputs and agricultural advisory services must be provided or organised by the state. Past experiences leave room for significant doubt as to how efficient and transparent this can be done in SSA. The state must also make advance payments until the tax is fully functional and bear significant commercial risks should the forecasted cotton production figures not be realized. The Malawian government just realised that it will only recover 50 per cent of the pre-financing they provided for cotton inputs in 2011 with the levy cashed in 2012 (Socotec 2012).

Whatever the organisational model, the state can and should delegate many tasks to private parties, but the selection and monitoring of these parties must be subject to strict criteria and the state should be able to sanction those who do not provide the agreed services. In addition to government regulation, international standards such as CmiA, contribute to bringing cotton companies and farmers to cooperate with each other on an equal level. For example, the CmiA criteria catalogue contains requirements for the setting of purchase

and input prices, as well as the terms of payment for the farmers. Wide-reaching developmental impacts can thus be achieved in the cotton sector through the interaction of adequate regulation and international standards. Potential donor support should be structured to stimulate such interaction in the cotton sector.

In conclusion, Tschirley et al. (2010, 317 ff.) and Poulton et al. (2010, 7) can be supported in their statement that there is no one-size-fits-all solution regarding the optimal organisational form of the cotton sector. Those involved would instead be well advised to continue to develop further existing systems in an incremental way instead of experimenting with radical alternatives, as:

"... feasible reform paths depend on a country's previous experience. Attempted rapid change from an established system to one with dramatically different behavioral underpinnings, even if the new system holds the prospect of improved performance if "properly" implemented is a risky undertaking that could instead reduce performance for long periods". (Poulton et al. 2010, 7)

#### Bibliography

- *AbTF (Aid by Trade Foundation)* (2012a): Cotton made in Africa : presentation at the 6th stakeholder meeting of COMPACI/CmiA, Hamburg: mimeo
- (2012b): Cotton made in Africa : criteria matrix, version 2; online: http://www.cotton-made-in-africa. com/downloads/dokumente.html (accessed 24 Jan. 2012)
- AGRA (Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa) (2009): AGRA in 2008 : building on the new momentum in African agriculture, Nairobi; online: http://www.agra.org/our-results/annual-reports/ (accessed 24 Jan. 2013)
- Aithnard, P.-H. (2011): How are fluctuating soft commodity prices affecting the agribusiness sector? : Ecobank presentation at the 3rd Annual West Africa Trade & Commodity Finance Conference, London: mimeo
- AfdL (Association du Fonds de Lissage) (2008): Règlement Fonds de Lissage, Burkina Faso: unpublished contract
- Bellocq, F.-X. / A. Silve (2007): La crise de la filière coton : conséquences économique et financières au Burkina Faso, Paris: Agence Française de Développement (Working Paper 48); online: http://www. afd.fr/webdav/site/afd/shared/PUBLICATIONS/RECHERCHE/Scientifiques/Documents-de-travail/048 -document-travail.pdf (accessed 2 Feb. 2012)
- BCI (Better Cotton Initiative) (2012): About BCI; online: http://www.bettercotton.org/ (accessed 18 Feb. 2012)
- *Brüntrup, Michael* (1997): Agricultural price policy and its impact on production, income, employment and the adoption of innovations : a farming system based analysis of cotton policy in Northern Benin, Peter Lang: Frankfurt/M.
- Brüntrup, M. / R. Peltzer (2007): Outgrowers a key to the development of rural areas in sub-Saharan Africa and to poverty reduction, Bonn: DIE (Report of a DEG / DIE workshop held at 18 Aug. 2006)
- *Clavier, H.* (2010): Culture du coton et diversification des cultures : presentation at the 8th annual congress of the African Cotton Association (ACA), Yaoundé: mimeo
- CmiA (Cotton made in Africa) (2012a): Wofür wir stehen; online: http://www.cotton-made-inafrica.com/die-initiative/wofuer-wir-stehen.html (accessed 18 Feb. 2012)
- (2012b): Wie wir dies gewährleisten; online: http://www.cotton-made-in-africa.com/die-initiative/wie-wirdies-gewaehrleisten.html#c1044 (accessed 18 Feb. 2012)
- COMPACI (Competitive African Cotton Initiative) (2011): Interview with Mamadou Ouattara, Permanent Secretary of AProCA (Association des Producteurs de Coton Africains / Association of African Cotton Producers), in: COMPACI-News 6, 9
- DEG (Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft) / GTZ (Gesellschaft für technische Zusammenarbeit) (s. a.): COMPACI; online: http://www.deginvest.de/deg/EN\_Home/I/Download\_Center/ PDFs\_ Online-Library/Compaci\_Flyer\_Engl\_Final.pdf (accessed 22 Feb. 2012)
- Delpuche, C. / A. Leblois (2011): Sub-Saharan African cotton policies in retrospect, Nogent-sur-Marne: Centre International de Recherche sur l'Environnement et le Développement (CIRED) (Working Paper 28/2011)
- Demont, M. / J. Stessens (2009): Food versus cash : development theory and reality in Northern Cote d'Ivoire, in: Review of Business and Economics XLIV (3), 258–272
- Diomande, V. (2010): Culture attelée financing draught animals at Ivoire Coton, in: COMPACI-News 3, 3
- Engel, S. (2011): CmiA Business Development Report 2010/2011, in: COMPACI-News 5, 12
- Fair Trade Foundation (2012): Cotton; online: http://www.fairtrade.org.uk/products/cotton/ default.aspx (accessed 18 Feb. 2012)
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization) (2012a): Agricultural production; online: http://faostat.fao.org/ site/339/default.aspx (accessed 22 Feb. 2012)
- (2012b): Agricultural resources, online: http://faostat.fao.org/site/348/default.aspx (accessed 22 Feb. 2012)
- *FLO-CERT GmbH* (2011): Operators; online: http://www.flo-cert.net/flo-cert/index.php?id=29 (accessed 18 Feb. 2012)

- *Govereh, J. / T. S. Jayne / J. Ayoro* (1999): Smallholder commercialization, interlinked markets and food crop productivity : cross-country evidence in Eastern and Southern Africa, Michigan, USA: Michigan State University (Department of Agricultural Economy and the Department of Economy)
- Govereh, J. / T. S. Jayne (2003): Cash cropping and food crop productivity : synergies or trade-offs?, in: Agricultural Economics 28 (1), 39–50
- Hoering, U. (2007): Agrar-Kolonialismus in Afrika : eine andere Landwirtschaft ist möglich, Hamburg: Forum Umwelt und Entwicklung
- IAASTD (International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development) (2009a): Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) Report, Washington, DC; online: http://www.agassessment.org/ (accessed 8 Feb. 2012)
- (2009b): Summary for decisions makers of the sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) Report, Washington, DC; online: http://www.agassessment.org/ (accessed 8 Feb. 2012)
- Jayne, T. S. / T. Yamano / J. Ayoro (2004): Interlinked credit and farm intensification : evidence from Kenya, in: Agricultural Economics 31 (2), 209–218
- *Kiriti, T. W. / C. Tisdell* (2003): Commercialisation of agriculture in Kenya : case study of policy bias and food purchases by farm households, in: *Quarterly Journal of International Agriculture* 42 (4), 439–457
- *Mees, M. / J. Bomda* (2006): The link between a micro finance institution and the modern banking sector : the cases of MC<sup>2</sup>, the NGO ADAF and Afriland First Bank in Cameroon, in: SOS Faim (ed.), *Zoom microfinance* 19
- NEPAD (New Partnership for African Development) (2009): Comprehensive Africa Agriculture Development Programme (CAADP) Pillar III : framework for African Food Security (FAFS), online: http://www.caadp.net/pdf/CAADP%20FAFS%20BROCHURE%20indd.pdf (accessed 24 Jan. 2013)
- *Neubert, S. / NORC (National Opinion Research Center)* (2010): COMPACI Farmers Voices 2010 : results of the interim MAPP-impact evaluation in Zambia, Malawi, Benin and Burkina Faso, Lusaka: mimeo
- NORC (National Opinion Research Center) (2011): Cross country comparison of key indicators from COMPACI / CmiA Baseline Surveys; online: http://www.cotton-made-in-africa.com/downloads/doku-mente.html (accessed 24 Jan. 2012)
- Peltzer, R. / S. Neubert (2011): Höhere Lebensqualität, in: E+Z Entwicklung und Zusammenarbeit 12, 473
- Poulton, Colin / D. Tschirley / C. Plerhoples (2010): Regulation of African cotton sectors : a conceptual approach, insights in best practice, and areas for future research, Washington, DC: World Bank
- Proforest Initiative (2011): Field report : systematic comparison study Zambia and Mali, s.l., mimeo
- Sadou, F. (2011): Professionalization of the farmers' cooperatives in Cameroon, in: COMPACI-News 5, 11
- Socotec (2012): Socotect Malawi Report (report about cotton production in Malawi, 7 Oct. 2012), s.l., mimeo
- Truscott, L. et al. (2010): 2010 Farm & Fibre Report : organic by choice, O'Donnell, Texas: Textile Exchange
- Tschirley, D. et al. (2010): Institutional diversity and performance in African cotton sectors, in: Development Policy Review 28 (3), 295–323
- United Nations (2011): The right to food: note by the Secretary-General, New York: A/66/262
- *Vermeulen, S. / L. Cotula* (2010): Making the most of agricultural investment : a survey of business models that provide opportunities for smallholders, London / Rome / Bern: IIED, FAO, IFAD, SDC
- *World Bank* (2008): World Development Report 2008 : agriculture for development, Düsseldorf: Droste Verlag (Special Edition for the Federal Agency for Civic Education)
- *Wolz, Axel* (2005): The role of agriculture and rural development in achieving the Millennium Development Goals a joint donor narrative, Bonn: Global Donor Platform for Rural Development (GDPRD)
- *Yumkella, K. K. et al.* (eds.) (2011): Agribusiness for Africa's prosperity, Wien: United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO)

#### Publications of the German Development Institute

#### Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft

- Messner, Dirk / Imme Scholz (eds.): Zukunftsfragen der Entwicklungspolitik, 410 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2004, ISBN 3-8329-1005-0
- Neubert, Susanne / Waltina Scheumann / Annette van Edig, / Walter Huppert (eds.): Integriertes Wasserressourcen-Management (IWRM): Ein Konzept in die Praxis überführen, 314 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2004, ISBN 3-8329-1111-1
- Brandt, Hartmut / Uwe Otzen: Armutsorientierte landwirtschaftliche und ländliche Entwicklung, 342 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2004, ISBN 3-8329-0555-3
- Liebig, Klaus: Internationale Regulierung geistiger Eigentumsrechte und Wissenserwerb in Entwicklungsländern: Eine ökonomische Analyse, 233 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2007, ISBN 978-3-8329-2379-2 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 1)
- Schlumberger, Oliver: Autoritarismus in der arabischen Welt: Ursachen, Trends und internationale Demokratieförderung, 225 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2008, ISBN 978-3-8329-3114-8 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 2)
- *Qualmann, Regine*: South Africa's Reintegration into World and Regional Markets: Trade Liberalization and Emerging Patterns of Specialization in the Post-Apartheid Era, 206 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2008, ISBN 978-3-8329-2995-4 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 3)
- Loewe, Markus: Soziale Sicherung, informeller Sektor und das Potenzial von Kleinstversicherungen, 221 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2009, ISBN 978-3-8329-4017-1 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 4)
- Loewe, Markus: Soziale Sicherung in den arabischen Ländern: Determinanten, Defizite und Strategien für den informellen Sektor, 286 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2010, ISBN 978-3-8329-5586-1 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 7)
- Faust, Jörg / Susanne Neubert (Hrsg.): Wirksamere Entwicklungspolitik: Befunde, Reformen, Instrumente, 432 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2010, ISBN 978-3-8329-5587-8 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 8)
- [Books may be ordered only through publishing house or bookshops.]

#### Book Series with Routledge

- Brandt, Hartmut / Uwe Otzen: Poverty Orientated Agricultural and Rural Development, 342 p., Routledge, London 2007, ISBN 978-0-415-36853-7 (Studies in Development and Society 12)
- Krause, Matthias: The Political Economy of Water and Sanitation, 282 p., Routledge, London 2009, ISBN 978-0-415-99489-7 (Studies in Development and Society 20)

[Books may be ordered only through publishing house or bookshops.]

#### Springer-Verlag

Scheumann, Waltina / Susanne Neubert / Martin Kipping (eds.): Water Politics and Development Cooperation: Local Power Plays and Global Governance, 416 p., Berlin 2008, ISBN 978-3-540-76706-0

#### Studies

- 73 *Klingebiel, Stephan:* Entwicklungszusammenarbeit eine Einführung, 86 p., Bonn 2013, ISNB 978-3-88985-580-0
- 72 *Ashoff, Guido et al.*: Análisis de impacto del Fondo Contravalor Perú-Alemania, 198 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-88985-509-1
- 71 *Leiderer, Stefan et al.*: Efficiency of Local Service Provision in Zambia's Health, Education and Road Sectors: Implication for decentralisation and the effectiveness of budget support, 304 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-889856-508-4
- 70 Ashoff, Guido et al.: Wirkungsanalyse des Deutsch-Peruanischen Gegenwertfonds, Bonn 2012, 198 p., ISBN 978-3-88985-507-7
- 69 *Lundsgaarde, Erik et al.:* Private Foundations and Development Cooperation: Insights from Tanzania, 118 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-88985-506-0
- 68 *Leiderer, Stefan / Jörg Faust:* Evaluation of Budget Support in Zambia: Implementation, direct effects and political economy, 212 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-88985-505-3
- 67 *Vollmer, Frank:* Increasing the Visibility and Effectiveness of Development Cooperation: How to reconcile two competing objectives?, 86 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-88985-504-6
- 66 *Vidican, Georgeta:* Building Domestic Capabilities in Renewable Energy: A case study of Egypt, 163 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-88985-503-9
- 65 *Van de Sand, Isabel:* Assessing Vulnerability to Climate Variability and Change: Participatory assessment approach and Kenyan case study, 149 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-88985-502-2

[Price: 10,00 Euro; books may be ordered directly from the DIE or through bookshops.]

#### **Discussion Paper**

- 3/2013 *Garcia, Melody:* Innovations in Governance: Evaluations and research studies on electoral accountability, corruption and multidimensional peacekeeping, 45 p., Bonn 2013, ISBN 978-3-88985-625-8
- 2/2013 *Kaul, Inge:* Global Public Goods: A concept for framing the Post-2015 Agenda?, Bonn 2013, 51 p., ISBN 978-3-88985-623-4
- 1/2013 Zulueta-Fülscher, Kimana: Effectiveness of Democracy-Support in "Fragile States": A review, Bonn 2013, 22 p., ISBN 978-3-88985-624-1
- 17/2012 Schiller, Armin von: Revenue Structures and the Question of Who Pays Taxes: Understanding the conditions under which elites pay taxes in developing countries, Bonn 2012, 39 p., ISBN 978-3-88985-622-7
- 16/2012 Lema, Rasmus / Axel Berger / Hubert Schmitz: China's Impact on the Global Wind Power Industry, Bonn 2012, 25 p., ISBN 978-3-88985-559-6
- 15/2012 *Volz, Ulrich:* The Need and Scope for Strengthening Co-operation Between Regional Financing Arrangements and the IMF, Bonn 2012, 14 p., ISBN 978-3-88985-558-9
- 14/2012 *Klingebiel, Stephan:* Results-Based Aid (RBA): New aid approaches, limitations and the application to promote good governance, 36 p., Bonn 2012, ISBN 978-3-88985-557-2
- 13/2012 *Koch, Svea:* From Poverty Reduction to Mutual Interests? : The debate on differentiation in EU development policy, 42 S., Bonn 2013, ISBN 978-3-88985-556-5
- [Price: 6,00 Euro; books may be ordered directly from the DIE or through bookshops.]

A complete list of publications available from DIE can be found at: http://www.die-gdi.de